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OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:


Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition is the Motion for Default Judgment (Motion), filed by the Commission’s Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (I&E) on May 3, 2016, relative to the above-captioned proceeding.  No Answers to the Motion have been filed.  For the reasons stated below, we shall deny the Motion and refer this matter to the Office of Administrative Law (OALJ) for mediation.
Procedural History

	Pine Roe Natural Gas Co., Inc. (Pine Roe or Respondent) is a “public utility” as that term is defined at 66 Pa. C.S. § 102, as it is engaged in providing public utility service as a natural gas distribution company to the public for compensation.

		On January 10, 2014, I&E filed the above-captioned Complaint against Pine Roe,[footnoteRef:1] alleging, inter alia, violations of various gas safety regulations in Parts 191 and 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations and provisions of the Commission’s Regulations, including 52 Pa. Code §§ 59.33 and 59.37, discovered during inspections conducted by the I&E Gas Safety Division (Gas Safety), as well as violations of 66 Pa. C.S. § 510(b) pertaining to the filing of annual assessment reports with the Commission.  Complaint at 4-11.  In its Complaint, I&E sought relief, including the imposition of a civil penalty in the amount of $40,500, and requested that Pine Roe not be permitted to recover any portion of the civil penalty through rates regulated by the Commission.  I&E also requested that Pine Roe be directed to address the violations set forth in the Complaint by performing certain corrective actions and submitting written documentation showing that each of the violations had been corrected.  In addition, I&E requested that Pine Roe be ordered to cease and desist from committing further violations of gas safety regulations.  Id. at 12. [1: 		The Complaint was served on Pine Roe on January 14, 2014.] 


		On February 14, 2014, Pine Roe filed a request with the Commission for an additional thirty days in which to respond to I&E’s Complaint.  By Secretarial Letter dated February 18, 2014, Pine Roe’s request for an extension of time was granted and Pine Roe was directed to answer the Complaint on or before March 6, 2014.

		On March 4, 2014, Pine Roe filed, pro se, an Answer to I&E’s Complaint, in which it listed the corrective actions taken by the Respondent to address the violations raised in the Complaint, and stated its belief that the violations had been cured.  Pine Roe also requested a reduction of the civil penalty recommended by I&E.  Answer at 1-2.

		On March 4, 2016, I&E filed an Amended Complaint[footnoteRef:2] against Pine Roe, in which it alleged that the Respondent committed additional violations subsequent to I&E’s filing of the January 10, 2014 Complaint.  In its Amended Complaint, I&E alleged, inter alia, that the Respondent (1) violated various gas safety regulations, as discovered during inspections conducted by Gas Safety, and in connection with a June, 2015 gas leak; (2) failed to file assessment reports for the 2010, 2011, and 2012 calendar years, in violation of 66 Pa. C.S. § 510(b); (3) failed to pay an assessment amount of $365 for the 2014-2015 fiscal year, in violation of 66 Pa. C.S. § 510(c); (4) contracted to purchase gas from an affiliate without an approved affiliated interest agreement, in violation of 66 Pa. C.S. § 2102; (5) failed to adhere to its tariff regarding the purchase of natural gas and the filing of quarterly reports relating to its Gas Cost Rate, in violation of 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 1303 and 1307(a) and (h) and 52 Pa. Code §§ 53.66 and 53.67; and (6) failed to file reports relating to unaccounted-for-gas, in violation of 52 Pa. Code § 59.111(c)(2).  Amended Complaint at 5-24. [2: 		I&E initially filed the Amended Complaint on February 3, 2016, but refiled it on March 4, 2016, when it discovered that the February 3, 2016 Amended Complaint was not served by certified mail pursuant to 66 Pa. C.S. § 702.] 


		Due to the increase in violations, I&E increased its proposed civil penalty to $318,055 in its Amended Complaint, and requested that Pine Roe not be permitted to recover any portion of the civil penalty through rates regulated by the Commission.  I&E also sought payment of the Respondent’s outstanding assessment for the July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015 fiscal year, in the amount of $365.[footnoteRef:3]  In addition, I&E requested that Pine Roe be ordered to cease and desist from committing further violations of the Public Utility Code (Code), Commission Regulations and Federal pipeline safety regulations, and requested that the Commission order such other remedy as deemed appropriate, including revocation of  the Respondent’s Certificate of Public Convenience.  Amended Complaint at 25. [3: 		The total payment sought by I&E amounted to $318,420, consisting of the civil penalty amount of $318,055 and the outstanding assessment amount of $365.] 


		On March 4, 2016, I&E’s Amended Complaint was served by certified mail on the Respondent, with an attached Notice advising the Respondent that it must file an Answer within twenty days of service of the Amended Complaint.  The Notice also advised the Respondent that if it failed to file an Answer to the Amended Complaint, I&E would request that the Commission issue an Order imposing the penalty set forth in the Complaint.  The Notice further provided the Respondent with detailed instructions related to filing an answer to the Amended Complaint.  In addition, the Notice advised the Respondent that if it is a corporation, it is required to be represented by legal counsel, pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 1.21.  According to I&E, the Respondent received the Amended Complaint on March 7, 2016.  Motion at 3.[footnoteRef:4] [4: 		Exhibit 1 to I&E’s Motion contains what I&E asserts is a true and correct copy of the proof of delivery of the Amended Complaint.  ] 


		I&E avers that Pine Roe contacted I&E’s prosecuting attorney assigned to this matter by telephone on March 21, 2016, and requested an extension of time to file an answer to the Amended Complaint.  I&E states that it advised the Respondent that it did not oppose the request, provided that the Respondent’s Answer to the Amended Complaint was received by I&E by close of business on April 11, 2016.  According to I&E, Pine Roe agreed that it would respond to I&E’s Amended Complaint on or before April 11, 2016.  Motion at 3.  Commission records contain no evidence that the Respondent ever formalized its request for an extension of time in writing to the Commission’s Secretary.

		I&E asserts that on April 11, 2016, it received an e-mail from the Respondent containing a Microsoft Word attachment consisting of a letter addressed to the Commission’s Secretary, which purported to provide a response corresponding to some, but not all, of the numbered paragraphs in I&E’s Amended Complaint.  Motion at 4.  I&E states that the attachment did not contain a title, such as “Answer.”  Id.  There is no indication in the Commissions records that the Respondent’s e-mail attachment was filed with the Secretary’s Bureau, or that any response to I&E’s Amended Complaint was filed by the Respondent.

Discussion

We note that any issue that we do not specifically address herein has been duly considered and will be denied without further discussion.  It is well settled that we are not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); also see, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).

		In its Motion, I&E submits that Pine Roe failed to file an Answer to its Amended Complaint within twenty days, as required by 52 Pa. Code § 5.61.  Motion at 4.  I&E also asserts that Pine Roe’s decision to appear pro se in this proceeding was contrary to the Commission’s Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 1.21(b), which provides that persons in adversarial proceedings, except for individuals representing themselves, shall be represented by an attorney admitted to practice in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  Motion at 5 (citing 52 Pa. Code § 1.21(b); Walacavage v. Excell 2000, Inc., 480 A.2d 281 (Pa. Super. 1984)).  I&E also argues that appearing pro se does not absolve the Respondent of the responsibility to comply with procedural rules.  Motion at 5 (citing Jones v. Rudenstein, 585 A.2d 520, 522 (Pa. Super. 1991); Passalacqua v. Passalacqua, 56 Pa. D. & C. 4th 38 (Pa. County Ct. 2002); Faretta v. Cal., 422 U.S. 806, 834 n. 46 (U.S. 1975)).

		For the above-stated reasons, I&E requests that its Amended Complaint be sustained, and that the Commission enter a Default Order against the Respondent that: (1) Directs the Respondent to pay the requested civil penalty of $318,055 within thirty days of the entry date of this Opinion and Order; (2) Directs the Respondent to pay its outstanding assessment of $365 for the 2014-2015 fiscal year; (3) Directs the Respondent to cease and desist from committing further violations of the Code, Commission Regulations and Federal pipeline safety regulations; and (4) Orders such other remedy as the Commission may deem appropriate, including revocation of the Respondent’s Certificate of Public Convenience at A-00102046.

		Based on our review of the record and the circumstances of this case, it appears that while Pine Roe did not file a formal answer to I&E’s Amended Complaint, there was contact between Pine Roe and I&E regarding the Amended Complaint and Pine Roe’s response to I&E’s allegations.  Additionally, Pine Roe had attempted, although inappropriately in a pro se format, to respond and correct the alleged violations in the original I&E complaint.  We believe Pine Roe’s attempts to address the issues raised by I&E shows willingness on the part of Pine Roe to participate in this proceeding and address the concerns of I&E.  However, it is critical that Pine Roe understand that the informal contact between it and I&E staff is not enough to address I&E’s Amended Complaint.

		Due to Pine Roe’s circumstances,[footnoteRef:5] the seriousness of the alleged violations and the requested civil penalty amount included in the Amended Complaint, this matter would be best treated in a formal manner.  We believe a Default Judgment is not the appropriate step in this proceeding where Pine Roe has attempted to respond and to rectify the alleged deficiencies, and that carries such serious potential repercussions.  Instead, we shall refer this matter to the OALJ for mediation.  If, after sixty days in mediation, the parties have failed to reach agreement, the parties may request an extension of thirty additional days, or this proceeding shall be assigned to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) for formal adjudication.  It is not required that Pine Roe be represented by an attorney during the mediation process.  However, we note that Pine Roe must be represented by an attorney during any subsequent adjudication before an ALJ, pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 1.21(b). [5: 		As of this Commission’s Annual Rate Comparison Report issued April 15, 2016, Pine Roe served approximately 170 residential customers in the townships of Beaver, Clarion, Monroe and Piney in Clarion County.] 


		In referring I&E’s Amended Complaint to the OALJ, official directives in the form of hearing notices and prehearing orders explain the necessity of engaging legal counsel in order to defend this matter, as well as the dire consequences if Pine Roe fails to comply.  Should Pine Roe fail to comply with this additional opportunity to correct its actions, the matter shall not be subject to Default Judgment.  Because of the unique nature of this proceeding and Pine Roe’s circumstances, we believe it appropriate to require I&E to present evidence to support its allegations before an ALJ for adjudication, regardless of Pine Roe’s success or failure in filing an Answer to the Amended Complaint.  Therefore, the Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 5.61(c), in which a respondent failing to file an answer within the applicable period may be deemed in default and the relevant facts stated in the pleadings may be deemed admitted, shall be waived.  This waiver is solely due to the unique circumstances of this case and due to Pine Roe’s apparent willingness to participate in this proceeding.


Conclusion

Based on our review of the record, the averments in the Motion, and the applicable law, we shall deny I&E’s Motion and refer this matter to OALJ for mediation.  If mediation proves unsuccessful, this proceeding shall be assigned to an ALJ for appropriate proceedings.  In addition, we shall waive our Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 5.61(c) as it relates to this proceeding, as discussed in this Opinion and Order; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

1.	That  the Motion for Default Judgment filed by the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement on May 3, 2016, is denied, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

2.	That the Amended Complaint filed by the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement on March 4, 2016, against Pine Roe Natural Gas Co., Inc., is referred to the Office of Administrative Law Judge for mediation.

3.	That if, after sixty (60) days in mediation, the parties have failed to reach an agreement on the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement’s March 4, 2016 Amended Complaint, the parties may request an extension of thirty (30) additional days or the Office of Administrative Law Judge shall assign this case to an Administrative Law Judge for appropriate proceedings, consistent with this Opinion and Order.
		4.	That this Commission’s Regulation set forth at 52 Pa. Code § 5.61(c), whereby a respondent failing to file an answer to a complaint within the applicable period may be deemed in default and the relevant facts stated in the pleadings may be deemed admitted, shall be waived for purposes of  this proceeding.
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Rosemary Chiavetta
Secretary


(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  March 2, 2017

ORDER ENTERED:  March 21, 2017
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